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The Baytown, Texas Post Nffice Federal Ruilding at 220 West
Defee was designed and built during 1936-1927, It is siqnificant
because it is representative of the 1930's depression era federal
buildings architecture and because it contains a fresco wall
mural reported to be one of only two of its kind in Texas.l

The original building site was acquired by the Post Office
Department on May 7, 1936 from Dr. G. A. and Elizabeth Lilly,
The 1lot was 200 feet by 100 feet or 20,000 square feet, facing
south on Defee street, bounded to the west hy Gilliard street and
to the north by Sterling street.2 In 1952 an additional tract of
land, 205 feet by 100 feet or 20,500 sguare feet, was purchased
for a major building expansion. A strip of land was acauired
from the west side of the site hy the «city for right-of-wav,
leaving a total of 28,900 square feet of land.3

Construction began on the original post office buildinag in
1936 and was completed by March 1°37 when the dedication ceremony
was described as a "coming out" party for the eighteen year oléd
community of Goose Creek, now Baytown.4 The structure cost
870,000 and was desidganed by architect Louis A. Simon. The
supervising and construction engineers were Neal A. Melick and G,
W. ¥ays and the construction contractor was Lundberg-Richter
Company. For the original floor plans see appendix 41. °

Two maior expansion proiects, 1in 1952 and 1960, more than

doubled the size of the hbuildina. The first project added
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aaditional work-room smace to the north side of the around floor.
Air conditioning anéd a new lightinag system were installed at this
time, In 1960 a new two-storvy Federal Building area was
constructed on the east side of the original structure. See
Apvendix #2, The present building now contains 17,659 net
square feet of space, The building is masonry with a vellow
brick face, built up tar and qravel roof, and plaster interior
walls, The original Post Office section of the building has
poured terrazo floors in the lobby, a wooden floor in the old
workroom area, and tile floors in the expansion area of the
workroom.6

A fresco wall mural, entitled "Texas Progress" was completed
in January of 1928 by a California artist, Rarse Miller, The
mural decorates the east wall in the lobby of the Post O0Office.
It was commissioned in 1937 by the Painting and Sculpture
Division of the United States Treasury Department as part of the
Works Progress Administration, Federal Arts Program., Eleven feet
long and six feet wide, the scene depicts the advance of an
idealizedé Texas pioneer. In his left hand he holds a 1938 model
of a modern luxurv aircraft. His right hand reaches out to araso
the Lone Star of Texas. A covered wadgon and an early Southern
Pacific locomotive are sketched across the baééline of the mural,
suggesting the importance of transporation to the development of
Texas. Miller received $610.00 for the commission.7

Austin art historian, Buie Farwood, was interview in 1984

about the mural. She saié, " Althouch about &5 rederal Art

°roject murals were completed in Texas, all but two were painted
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on canvas." The other fresco is in the downtown San Antcnio post
office on Fast Houston Street and was done hv artist Howare
Cook.8 farwoed continued, "The (Raytown) mural is important
hecause it dccuments a certain time period in art history. The
painting and the period are unique hecause they represent the
federal governments most successful attempt to assist large
numbers of individual American artists."9 The mural is in need of
repair and plans are being made to conserve and restore it.

The discovery of o0il on Tabbs Bay near the mouth and on the
east bank of Goose Creek caused an influx of people into the area
and the first Post Nffice was established in 1914 and named
"Goose Creek", The oil town which mushroomed on the spot was
called "Cld Town" and the Post Office building was located in a
store building near the water front. The first Postmaster was
ndward C,. Slaughtér.lG The hurricane of 1915 caused much damace
to the 1little o0il settlement, This disaster, along with the
bringing in of gushers which drenched 'everything nearby with oil,
forced the business men to move inland and establish a second
community. Another dgroup of citizens moved still further 1into
the prairie and built a third town. Thus by the earlv 1900's
there were three communities in the area; O0Old Town, now non
existant; M"iddle Town, later Pelly; and New Town, later Coose
Creek,

The Post Nffice was relocated by Postmaster Slaughter from
Tabbs Bay up the hill to Middle Town in Februarv 1917, The new
wooden building fronted on the county road, was eiaht foot square

and contained 600 lock boxes for the convenience of the public,

Then on January 18, 1219 the building was loaded on a flat wagon
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and hauled by mule team to Nefee Street in Mew Town to sit
beside the rail road track. Tradition says that the little Post
Nffice was stolen by the residents of tlew Town so that Lheir town
could be incorporated but the unromantic truth is, it was moved
for accessability to the railroad for mail delivery. Sometime
later, the Goose C(Creek Post Office was moved'to the Guaranty
State Bank building on Texas Avenue. H

In the years that followed Pellv wés aiven a Post Office of
its own, Still later after the establishment of the Humble
refinery and residential development in that vicinity) a third
Post Office was granted and named "Baytown."

Consolidation' of the Tri-Cities, Goose Creek, Pelly and
‘Baytown, took place on February 15, 1947 and the new city was
called Bavtown, The Post Nffice department designated the
Goose Creek Office as the main Post Office and the Raytown ana
Pelly offices were made sub-stations. The main post office was,
then called the 3aytown Post Office.12

The United States Postal Service in Baytown moved into new
facilities at 601 .West Baker Road and sold the property and
building at 220 West Defee to the City of Raytown in 198.5.l3 The
City has successfully employed adaptive reuse of the historic
building, leasing the ©Post Office portion to the Bay Area
Heritage Society to be utilized foi the Baytown Museum and making
a City Hall 2nnex of the balance.l'

The City of Baytown, by ordinance, has designated a Building
Conservation District in the down-town area to encouradge the
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United States Post 0ffice BRBuilding because of its unique
16
architecture and age,
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